#### In The

## **DC** Court of Appeals

Appeal No. 20-CV-0556



Clerk of the Court Received 12/14/2021 07:04 PM Resubmitted 12/15/2021 09:27 AM Resubmitted 12/15/2021 01:13 PM

#### 1417 BELMONT COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT LLC

Appellant,

V.

DC

**Appellee** 

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Case No. 2010 CA 007158 B (Hon. Michael L. Rankin)

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

\*MICAH SALB (453197) **Lippman, Semsker & Salb, LLC**7979 Old Georgetown Road
Suite 1100
Bethesda, Maryland 20814
(301) 656 6905
msalb@lsslawyers.com

Attorney for Appellant

## List of Parties

#### **Statement of Final Order**

**\*** 

This appeal arises from a final order that disposes of all claims of all Parties, to wit the grant of summary judgment to the District of Columbia issued on June 16, 202.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

•

- 1. Whether the District of Columbia violated Belmont's due process rights and the Takings Clause when it razed Belmont's building without first serving notice of the violation in the manner required by the DC Code.<sup>1</sup>
- 2. Whether the Director of DCRA has final policy making authority regarding the enforcement of construction code violations such that she was a final policymaker pursuant to <u>Monell v. Dep't of Social Services</u> as to the raze action at issue in this case.<sup>1</sup>
- 3. Whether the Superior Court erred in holding that Belmont was required to demonstrate that the DCRA Director issued the raze order with deliberate indifference when the requirement to show deliberate indifference (or some other additional demonstration of culpability) only applies when the final policymaker's action was on its face valid but caused a constitutional violation only because of some "downstream" consequence.
- 4. Whether the Superior Court erred in holding that Belmont a final policymaker's actions cannot be attributed to the municipality merely because the action violated law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Superior Court held that the District violated Belmont's due process rights when it razed Belmont's building without first serving notice in the statutorily-required manner. The Superior Court has also held that Ms. Argo was acting as a final policymaker when she issued the orders in this case. Belmont has not appealled those orders and the District has filed no crossappeal. Thus, those questions are not at issue in this appeal, but are listed in the Statement of the Issues because they are fundamental prerequisites of the case.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

**\*** 

On March 30, 2009, the District issued a Notice of Violation and Notice of Abatement ("Notice") to Belmont because of unsafe conditions at Belmont's construction site but it failed to serve Belmont with that notice in the manner required by DC law. Hearing nothing from Belmont, the District razed the building. Belmont filed suit against the District because the District's notice did not meet the plain requirements of District law and therefore the razing violated Belmont's Fifth Amendment due process rights and constitutes a violation of the Takings Clause of the Fifth Amendment.

Following ordinary proceedings and several cross motions for summary judgment, the Superior Court granted summary judgment in favor of Belmont on June 24, 2016. The court determined that DC failed to provide notice consistent with the DC Code, that strict compliance was required, and that the District was liable for the loss of the property.

But two years later, the Superior Court vacated the grant of summary judgment. The court reiterated its holding that Ms. Argo was a final policymaker, but held that the grant of summary judgment for Belmont was not warranted because it remained unresolved whether Ms. Argo was "deliberately

indifferent to known or obvious consequences of a due process violation when approving the raze permit".

And after another two years, the Superior Court issued another decision holding that "the decision of a DCRA employee to violate a binding statutory policy with respect to Belmont cannot, as a matter of law, be the basis of municipal liability under *Monell*". It further held that, "when the legislative branch establishes policy through legislation, a decision by an executive branch official to violate the policy does not constitute an exercise of policy-making authority or an act of the municipality". Consequently, the court granted summary judgment to the District.

The Superior Court made four incorrect rulings.

The first and second errors relate to the Superior Court's determination that DCRA Director Linda Argo's action was not on its face unconstitutional and that therefore according to the Supreme Court's decision in Bryan County v. Brown Belmont had to demonstrate that she was deliberately indifferent to known or obvious consequences of a due process violation when she approved the raze permit. The first error reflected here is the court's incorrect conclusion that Ms. Argo's authorization of the raze without ensuring that Belmont receive due process was not on its face unconstitutional. The second error reflected here is the court's imposition of the duty to show deliberate indifference

because a plaintiff need not prove culpability through deliberate indifference or any other standard when the final policymaker directly causes the constitutional violation, as is the case here.

Third, the Superior Court erred in holding that the decision of a government official to violate law cannot, as a matter of law, be the basis of municipal liability under *Monell*. It has been established for many decades that it is irrelevant whether the final policymaker's action violates enrolled law.

Similarly, it was error to conclude that an official's decision cannot constitute "action by a final policymaker" when the decision violates law.

Belmont filed its appeal because of these errors.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

**\*** 

The material facts in this case are uncontested.

- 1. Plaintiff-Appellant 1417 Belmont LLC (hereinafter "Belmont"), a DC-based limited liability company, purchased the parcel of real property located at 1417 Belmont Street (hereinafter the "Property") in August 2006 for the purpose of redeveloping it into living units. [App'x 277  $\P$  1.]
- 2. Belmont worked on the redevelopment of the Property over the course of the next several years. [App'x 277  $\P$  2.]
- 3. On March 30, 2009, DCRA inspector Ken Wilson inspected the Property and issued a notice of violation (hereinafter the "Notice"). [App'x 279 ¶ 9.] The notice informed Belmont that it had fifteen days to cause construction to commence, remove exterior building supports, and re-open the rear alley, or, in the alternative, to apply for a raze permit. [Id.]
- 4. DCRA posted the Notice on the front door of the Property. [App'x 277 ¶ 10.]
- 5. DCRA also mailed the Notice to Belmont via First Class United States Mail. [App'x 277  $\P$  11.]

- 6. The District did not provide Belmont with a copy of the Notice by personal service. [See 0144  $\P\P$  6, 7.]
- 7. The District did not provide Belmont with a copy of the Notice by certified or registered mail. [See 0144  $\P\P$  6, 7.]
- 8. The District had on prior occasion provided notices to Belmont via certified mail. [0196-97  $\P$ ¶ 6-7.]
- 9. The District's records contained in numerous places the location of Belmont's offices and the name of Belmont's owner. [App'x 0081  $\P$  3; 0090  $\P$  1; 0143  $\P$  3.]
  - 10. Belmont did not receive a copy of the Notice.
- 11. On or about May 15, the District declared the Property to be a dangerous building pursuant to DCMR 12-115 because there had been a cave-in under a sidewalk adjacent to the building near a gas line and the footings of the building were settling. [App'x 0083 ¶ 23.]
- 12. Belmont's owner made numerous efforts to communicate with the District regarding the unsafe conditions. [See, e.g., App'x 0085.]
- 13. On June 23 and June 25, the District issued a Determination and Findings for an Emergency Procurement. [App'x 0097-101.]
- 14. Both of the Determinations were signed by Linda K. Argo. [App'x 0097-101.]

- 15. Ms. Argo was at that time the Director of DCRA. [App'x 0097-101.]
- 16. The District issued a Raze Permit on July 2, 2009. [App'x 0102.]
- 17. The Raze Permit was also signed by Ms. Argo. [App'x 0102.]
- 18. The District razed the Building on or about July 10, 2009. [App'x 0088.]
- 19. The District provided Belmont with no hearing before razing the property.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This Court reviews the grant of summary judgment *de novo*, applying the

same substantive standards which are applied by the trial court. Allen v. Yates, 870 A.2d 39, 44 (D.C. 2005). Interpretation of statutes presents a question of law that this Court also considers *de novo*. Cherry v. DC, 164 A.3d 922, 925 (D.C. 2017). A party is entitled to summary judgment if, when the facts are viewed "in the light most favorable to the non-moving party . . . there [are] no genuine issue[s] of material fact and [] the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56 (c); Hosp. Temps Corp. v. DC, 926 A.2d 131,

134 (D.C. 2007).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

•

On March 30, 2009, the District issued a Notice of Violation and Notice of Abatement ("Notice") to Belmont because of unsafe conditions at Belmont's construction site. The notice, issued pursuant to DC Code § 42-3131, stated that the property owner must either remediate the issues identified or apply for a raze permit within fifteen days. The District states that it posted the Notice on the Property and sent the Notice to Belmont via USPS First Class mail (though Belmont did not receive the notice). Hearing nothing from Belmont, the District razed the building.

The District failed to serve the notice according to the plain requirements of the DC Code. This Court has directed that notice must be served in strict compliance with the terms of the Code, else the government's action constitutes a breach of the property owner's due process rights. As such, the District's razing of Belmont's building violated Belmont's Fifth Amendment due process rights and constitutes a violation of the Takings Clause of the Fifth Amendment.

The Director of DCRA has final policy making authority regarding the enforcement of construction code violations like the one at issue in this case. Therefore, because the action which caused the deprivation of Belmont's

property—the raze order—was made by the Director of DCRA, the action was taken by a final policymaker and so the District is not shielded by *Monell*.

The Superior Court held that Belmont had failed to present a sound Section 1983 action because it did not demonstrate that the DCRA Director (the final policymaker) issued the raze order with deliberate indifference. The requirement of showing deliberate indifference (or some other additional demonstration of culpability) does not apply in this case. It applies only in due process cases in which the final policymaker's action was on its face valid and caused a constitutional violation only because of some "downstream" consequence. Because that is not the case here, it was error for the Superior Court to look for such proof.

Finally, the Superior Court erred in holding that a final policymaker's actions cannot be attributed to the municipality merely because the action violated law. When a government official acts in a matter for which she is a final policymaker—as is clearly the case here—the municipality is liable.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The material facts of this case are simple and uncontested.

On March 30, 2009, a DCRA inspector determined that Belmont's building, which was then under construction, was unsafe. The inspector issued a notice of violation stating that Belmont had fifteen days to commence construction, remove exterior building supports, and re-open the rear alley, or, in the alternative, to apply for a raze permit.

The District posted the Notice on the front door of the Property and mailed it to Belmont via First Class United States Mail. The District did not provide Belmont with a copy of the Notice by personal service. The District did not mail the Notice by certified or registered mail.

On June 23 and June 25, the District issued a Determination and Findings for an Emergency Procurement. The two Determinations were signed by Linda K. Argo, who was at that time the Director of DCRA. The District issued a Raze Permit on July 2, also signed by Ms. Argo. It razed Belmont's building on or about July 10 but provided Belmont with no hearing before razing the building.

As the following discussion demonstrates, the District violated Belmont's due process rights and the Takings Clause when it razed the building without affording Belmont with constitutionally-required notice.

#### I. The District Did Not Satisfy the Statutorily-Required Service Requirement, Which Means that the District Breached Belmont's Due Process Rights.

Before the District government razed Belmont's building, it issued a notice of violation and instruction to remediate, as is required by law. It did not, however, *serve* Belmont with the notice as required by law. The District's failure to comply with the statutorily-prescribed notice service requirements means that the District violated Belmont's due process rights when it razed Belmont's building. As such, the District must provide Belmont with a remedy for its improper taking.

# A. The District Can Raze Buildings Only After Providing Notice to the Property Owner Using One of the Statutorily-Prescribed Methods of Service.

The District clearly has the authority to demolish unsafe buildings. *See*, *e.g.*, <u>Miles v. DC</u>, 510 F.2d 188 (D.C. Cir. 1975). In fact, four separate provisions of District law authorize the District to do so under various circumstances. *See* DC Code §§ 6-801, 42-3131.01, 42-3171.02, and 6-903.

But the due process clause of the United States Constitution demands that no person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law. U.S. Const. Amend. V. Accordingly, a "municipality must, before destroying a building, give the owner sufficient notice, a hearing and ample opportunity to demolish the building himself . . . as to accord due process of law." *Miles*, 510

F.2d at 192. Thus, in each of the DC laws which authorize demolition, the laws direct the District to provide notice to the property owner before it can destroy the property.

And, at the heart of this case, each of these laws also specifies in detail the <a href="method of service">method of service</a> required for that notice:

			Notice Methods			
				Deliver		
				to	Reg. Mail	
	Provision	Provision	Personal	Owner's	with	
	Authorizing	Requiring	Delivery	Place of	Return	
	Razing	Notice	to Owner	Business	Receipt	Email
DC can redress						
unlawful building			Υ	Υ	N	Υ
conditions	42-3131.01	42-3131.03				
DC can redress			Υ	Υ	Υ	N
unsafe buildings	6-801	6-807	l	•	•	IN
DC can redress						
unsanitary			Υ	Υ	Υ	N
buildings	6-903	6-910(a)(1)				
DC can acquire			Post + ma	il by certifie	d mail retur	n receipt
abandoned or			+ publish in a DC newspaper of gen. circ. +			
deteriorated			publish in the DC Register + send to the			
property	42-3171.02	42-3173.05	local ANC	+ file with t	he Recorder	r of Deeds

All four laws require service of the notice either by delivering it to the property owner in-person or by leaving it at the owner's place of business or residence with a suitable person. Two of the laws permit DC to serve notice by mail—but in both cases the mailing must be by certified or registered mail with a return receipt. One of the laws also permits notice via email. (Additional methods are available if these primary methods are unsuccessful or unavailable.) *See* DC Code §§ 6-807, 42-3131.03, 42-3173.05, and 6-910(a)(1).

Here, the notice of violation was issued and served by Ken Wilson, the District's Supervisor of Building Inspections. He served using two methods. First, he posted it on the front door of the Property. Second, he mailed it to Belmont using United States Postal Service First Class Mail.

The notice was issued pursuant to DC Code § 42-3131.01 (as it states on its face). As such, the service requirements stated in DC Code § 42-3131.03 apply to this notice. Section 42-3131.03 prescribes service via (i) hand-delivery or (ii) via email or (iii) by leaving the notice with a proper person at the owner's office. DC Code § 42-3131.03(1). As a backup to those three methods, in cases where an office cannot be located in the District, DC must serve the notice by leaving it with a suitable person at the office of an agent of the owner. Id. at § 42-3131.03(2). If neither the owner's office nor an agent's office can be found in the District, the government is permitted to serve via First Class mail. Id. at § 42-3131.03(3). Service by posting is permitted only if no address can be determined or if a mailed notice is returned undelivered. Id. at § 42-3131.03(4).

It is undisputed that the District did not deliver the notice using any of the three required methods—in person, via electronic mail, or by leaving it with someone at Belmont's business location. Because Belmont had an office in the District (as the District knew because it had been in routine contact with Plaintiff's corporate representative<sup>2</sup>), the backup methods of service were impermissible. *See* DC Code §§ 42-3131.03(2)-(4). As such, the District's service by posting and by First Class mail did not meet the clear and simple requirements of the law.

## B. The Law Requires Strict Compliance With the Notice Service Requirements.

The District has never argued that its service complied with the requirements of Section 42-3131.03. Instead, it argues that its service was adequate to satisfy Belmont's right to due process. But that argument is plainly wrong because this Court has held that the government's service of notice must comply strictly with the statutory service requirements before it may permanently and irretrievably deprive someone of their property. Associated Estates, LLC v. Caldwell, 779 A.2d 939, 944 (DC 2001).

In *Associated Estates*, DC sold a property for failure to pay property taxes. The purchaser of the tax lien later sought, and DC issued, a tax deed. Before issuing the tax deed, DC provided notice to the property owner of the imminent expiration of the redemption period, but DC served the notice via First Class mail. That service did not meet the requirements of the statute, which specified

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The District also knew the owner's telephone number and email address. [See 0073  $\P\P$  3-4.]

that notice be served by registered or certified mail. This Court rejected the District's argument—identical to its argument here—that substantial compliance was sufficient:

It is firmly established in this jurisdiction that the District of Columbia may effect a valid conveyance of property for nonpayment of real estate taxes only by strict compliance with the tax sale statute and regulations. Strict compliance is required to guard against the deprivation of property without due process of law, and because it is the policy of the state to give the delinquent taxpayer every reasonable opportunity, compatible with the rights of the state, to redeem his property. Accordingly, if the District fails to comply in every respect with the statute and regulations, the sale is invalid and must be set aside.

Associated Estates, 779 A.2d at 943 (cleaned up), quoting Boddie v. Robinson, 430 A.2d 519, 522 (D.C.1981), Potomac Bldg. Corp. v. Karkenny, 364 A.2d 809, 812 (D.C.1976), and Keatts v. Robinson, 544 A.2d 716, 719 (D.C.1988).

The decision in *Associated Estates* directs the outcome in this case: Just as strict compliance with notice service requirements is required to guard against loss of property through tax sale, so too strict compliance is surely required to guard against the permanent and irretrievable loss of property through razing. As the District Court put it:

This Court can discern no persuasive reason in this case for approving a mode of service that is less effective than that directed by the D.C. Code in those situations where a property owner is sent notice

compelling him to show cause why his building should not be condemned.

Miles v. DC, 354 F.Supp. 577, 581 (D.D.C. 1973), aff'd and quoted in 510 F.2d 188 (D.C.Cir. 1975).

Associated Estates makes clear that in razing cases the service required to meet due process and the service required to meet statutory requirements are coterminous. Associated Estates, 779 A.2d at 943. This determination was echoed by the *Miles* court (in both the District Court decision and in its affirmance by the D.C. Circuit):

When the Board entrusted the notice of its determination to demolish the subject buildings to the safekeeping of the normal channels of the postal service, it selected a less adequate method than that specified by the Code, and it also failed to comport with basic constitutional prerequisites.

See Miles, 354 F.Supp. at 585. Thus, under this Court's decision in Associated Estates and the D.C. Circuit's decision in Miles, violation of statutory notice requirements amounts, ipso facto, to a breach of due process rights.

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