#### No. 20-CV-556

# IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

# 1417 BELMONT COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT, APPELLANT,

V.

# DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, APPELLEE.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

### BRIEF FOR APPELLEE THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

KARL A. RACINE Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

CARL J. SCHIFFERLE Deputy Solicitor General

\*THAIS-LYN TRAYER Deputy Solicitor General Office of the Solicitor General

Office of the Attorney General 400 6th Street, NW, Suite 8100 Washington, D.C. 20001 (202) (202) 255-3681 thais-lyn.trayer@dc.gov

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

Director Argo was constrained by District law and did not enjoy final policymaking authority. To be sure, Director Argo implemented the Nuisance Abatement Act, *see* D.C. Code § 42-3131.01, and administered the Construction Codes, *see* D.C. Code § 6-1405.01—for example, by DCRA issuing "the necessary notices to cause the removal of illegal or unsafe conditions," 12-A DCMR § 104.1 (2008), and approving permits "for the erection, razing, demolition . . . of buildings and structures," *id.* § 104.2. However, Belmont never identified any relevant

Contrary to Belmont's urging (Br. 1 n.1), the Superior Court did not "h[o]ld," that "Ms. Argo was acting as a final policymaker when she issued the orders in this case."

rulemaking authority that she held. The authority to propose amendments to the Codes rested instead with the independent Construction Codes Coordinating Board, *see* Mayor's Order 2009-22, and ultimate policymaking authority resided with the Council, which had to approve any amendments before they could take effect. D.C. Code § 6-1409 (effective Apr. 5, 2005). In other words, Director Argo was constrained by statutes and rules "not of . . . [her] making," *Praprotnik*, 485 U.S. at 127 (plurality op.), and her "discretion in the exercise of [those] particular functions does not, without more, give rise to municipal liability." *Pembaur*, 475 U.S. at 482 (plurality op.).

The D.C. Circuit's decision in *Singletary v. District of Columbia*, 766 F.3d 66 (D.C. Cir. 2014), confirms that any alleged decision by Director Argo to depart from District law is not an act of the municipality. There, the court reached the same conclusion about the Board of Parole and declined to attribute to the District the Board's revocation of parole that relied on hearsay evidence, in violation of due process. *Id.* at 68. The court reasoned that, even as the Board made "final... decisions in individual cases," the Board did not enjoy delegated rulemaking authority, and the Council retained authority to approve rules governing the Board's exercise of powers. *Id.* at 74. The court concluded that "the Board thus was 'constrained by policies not of [its] making,' and its decision 'to depart[]' from

those policies . . . [wa]s not an act of the municipality for purposes of § 1983." *Id.* at 359 (quoting *Praprotnik*, 485 U.S. at 127) (plurality op.)).

Thus, Director Argo was not, as Belmont argues (Br. 20) "a final policymaker as to raze decisions." Belmont exclusively—and mistakenly—focuses on the decision to raze, as opposed to any decision regarding notice, which is the municipal action directly implicated by its procedural due process claim. *See infra* pp. 32-33; *Pembaur*, 475 U.S. at 481 (plurality op.) ("Municipal liability attaches only where the decisionmaker possesses final authority to establish municipal policy *with respect to the action ordered*." (emphasis added)). Regardless, the reasons why Director Argo did not enjoy final policymaking authority apply equally to both the raze decision and the notice given.

Belmont seeks to rely (Br. 21) on *Thompson v. District of Columbia*, 832 F.3d 339 (D.C. Cir. 2016), but Director Argo would not be considered a final policymaker under the logic of that case. In *Thompson*, the D.C. Circuit inquired whether the alleged final policymaker's actions were subject to oversight, both under District law and in practice. *See id.* at 349. Because "the record [wa]s replete with evidence that" the official "exercised his authority . . . without any control by other District officials," the D.C. Circuit held that the official could fairly be considered a final policymaker, despite certain provisions of District law providing for further review of the official's actions. *Id.*; *see id.* at 350 (noting further the official's rulemaking

authority). Here, by contrast, the record contains no evidence that Director Argo exercised her enforcement powers contrary to the authority delegated to her. *Thompson* is therefore beside the point. Indeed, the case stands for nothing more than the unremarkable proposition that a policy official's exercise of authority in practice might evidence that a municipality's formal policy is one in name only, which is not the case here. *See Monell*, 436 U.S. at 691 (acknowledging that an official's actions, "[a]lthough not authorized by written law," could amount to "custom or usage' with the force of law" (quoting *Adickes v. S. H. Kress & Co.*, 398 U.S. 144, 167-168 (1970))).

Given that Director Argo lacked relevant final policymaking authority, the Superior Court properly recognized that the notice provision in Section 42-3131.03 constrained District officials, including Director Argo. App. 456. Thus, any departure from District law did not represent an official, municipal act. App. 456.<sup>8</sup>

\_

Contrary to Belmont's suggestion (Br. 31), reversal of summary judgment is unwarranted based on the Superior Court's statement that "the decision of a DCRA employee to violate a binding statutory policy . . . cannot, as a matter of law, be the basis of municipal liability under *Monell*." App. 454. The Superior Court's decision is best read to refer to "the decision of a DCRA employee" who does not enjoy final policymaking authority. See App. 455 (citing Praprotnik, 485 U.S. at 127 (plurality op.) (referring to "subordinate's departure" from municipal policy)). Of course a so-called "paper' policy cannot insulate a municipality from liability" if it is routinely and blatantly ignored, Daskalea v. District of Columbia, 227 F.3d 433, 442 (D.C. Cir. 2000), and the Superior Court's decision should not be construed to state otherwise. At any rate, this Court reviews the municipal liability question de novo,

2. Alternatively, Director Argo took no action regarding notice that caused any deprivation of Belmont's due process rights.

Even assuming Director Argo had final policymaking authority, Belmont must establish either that she "directed or authorized the deprivation of federal rights" (i.e., direct involvement in the provision of notice), or that she did not "directly inflict[] [the] injury" but indirectly did so through a "facially lawful municipal action" taken with deliberate indifference (i.e., the raze authorization). *Bryan Cnty.*, 520 U.S. at 405-06. Belmont did neither.

To establish final policymaker liability under the theory that Director Argo directly committed a due process violation, she must have made a *deliberate* policy decision with respect to notice. "A 'policy'... involves a "'deliberate' or 'conscious' choice by a municipality." *Harris*, 489 U.S. at 389; *see Tuttle*, 471 U.S. at 823 n.6 (relying on dictionary definition of "policy" as "a definite course or method of action selected from among alternatives'" (quoting Webster's Ninth New Collegiate Dictionary 910 (1983))). The case law confirms as much. Each case involves some discrete, deliberate action on the part of an official alleged to have final policymaking authority. *See Pembaur*, 475 U.S. at 473 (decision to force entry without warrant); *Praprotnik*, 485 U.S. at 123 (plurality op.) (decision to transfer and lay off employee); *Bryan Cnty.*, 520 U.S. at 397 (decision to hire employee

and affirmance here is independently proper because Director Argo was not a final policymaker in the area at issue.

alleged to have used excessive force); *Kidwell v. District of Columbia*, 670 A.2d 349, 350-51 (D.C. 1996) (decision not to promote employee); *Blue*, 811 F.3d at 19 (decision to hire, and subsequent decision not to terminate, employee).

The deliberate policy choice, moreover, must be specific to the allegedly unconstitutional action. *See Pembaur*, 475 U.S. at 483 (plurality op.). In *Pembaur*, for example, the plaintiff alleged a Fourth Amendment violation when police officers forcibly entered his property without a search warrant. *Id.* at 474. Thus, the Court focused on the decision to authorize entry onto the property. *Id.* at 484. Likewise, in *Bryan County*, the plaintiff claimed that the county was liable for a police officer's alleged use of excessive force based on a final policymaker's decision to hire the officer notwithstanding his criminal record. 520 U.S. at 401, 408. As a result, the Court examined the hiring decision. *Id.* at 411-15.

Here, Belmont has alleged a violation of procedural due process, making the decision to provide (or forgo) notice the correct focus of the final policymaking inquiry. Where a violation of due process is claimed, "the deprivation by state action of a constitutionally protected interest . . . is not itself unconstitutional; what is unconstitutional is the deprivation of such an interest without due process of law." SA 120 (quoting *Zinermon v. Burch*, 494 U.S. 113, 125 (1990)). Indeed, it is axiomatic that "[p]rocedural due process rules are meant to protect persons not from the deprivation, but from the mistaken or unjustified deprivation of life, liberty, or

property." *Carey v. Piphus*, 435 U.S. 247, 259 (1978); *see Ford v. Turner*, 531 A.2d 233, 240 (D.C. 1987) (repeating that denial of process "does not depend upon the merits of a claimant's substantive assertions" (quoting *Carey*, 435 U.S. at 266)). Thus, the relevant policy choice here would have to concern notice, not the deprivation itself (i.e., the raze).

The Superior Court correctly concluded that Director Argo was simply not involved in any decisions about notice. Belmont did not "provide any evidence that [Director] Argo" decided "the content, timing or method of notice." App. 457 (emphasis added). Nor was there any evidence that Director Argo directly authorized the issuance of insufficient notice, either by affirmatively instructing a subordinate to disregard the notice requirement, or approving the subordinate's decision to do so. App. 456. Belmont at most "assert[ed]" that Director Argo "personally decided not to notify Belmont," but there was no evidentiary support for that "conclusory assertion." App. 456-57. In the absence of "fault on the part of the city based on a course" that Director Argo "consciously chose to pursue," there is no basis for municipal liability. Triplett v. District of Columbia, 108 F.3d 1450, 1453 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (quoting Carter v. District of Columbia, 795 F.2d 116, 122 (D.C. Cir. 1986)); cf. Tuttle, 471 U.S. at 821 (rejecting jury instruction permitting

"plaintiff to establish municipal liability without submitting proof of a single action taken by a municipal policymaker").

For good reason then, Belmont's opening brief on appeal does not contend that Director Argo was directly involved in any decision with respect to notice. As a result, the argument is forfeited. *See Aeon Fin., LLC v. District of Columbia*, 84 A.3d 522, 530 (D.C. 2014) (describing "the longstanding policy" of this Court to decline to consider arguments not raised in the opening brief). Belmont instead emphasizes that "the raze decisions were all made by Linda Argo." Br. 23. But as discussed, given that Belmont's sole claim is that the District violated procedural due process by failing to provide constitutionally adequate notice, it is not enough for Belmont to show that Director Argo authorized the raze. It would have to show that she specifically authorized the alleged lack of adequate notice.

The raze permit does not evince a policy choice with respect to notice. It does not by itself "support a reasonable inference that [Director Argo] was involved in

Belmont failed to identify any other DCRA employee who was a final policymaker and "made any decision about the delivery, content, and timing of the notice." App. 457. As the Superior Court noted, the March 2009 notice was "personally mailed and posted" by Mr. Wilson. However, the record did not establish that Mr. Wilson "had final authority to make" decisions on "what the notice should say or when it should be delivered." SA 122 n.3. Despite the court's invitation to further address the issue of whether "Mr. Wilson made a policymaking decision with respect to notice," Belmont at summary judgment pointed to no such evidence. SA 122 n.3.

any decision about notice to Belmont." SA 139. And Belmont has made no effort to explain any connection between the permit and Director Argo's personal participation in any decisions about whether or how to provide notice. In fact, the March 2009 notice—the one about which Belmont complains—was signed by DCRA Inspector Thomas Hayden and mailed by Supervisor of Building Inspections Ken Wilson. App. 207, 210-11. There was simply no evidence that Director Argo herself was involved in giving that notice.

3. Belmont has not claimed or shown that, in approving the raze, Director Argo acted with deliberate indifference to a serious risk that a procedural due process violation would likely occur.

The Superior Court also correctly determined that Director Argo was not "deliberately indifferent to the risk that Belmont had not received adequate notice when she authorized the raze." App. 456. "[A] facially lawful municipal action" by a policymaker that "has led an employee to violate a plaintiff's rights" requires an additional showing that "the municipal action was taken with 'deliberate indifference' as to its known or obvious consequences." *Bryan Cnty.*, 520 U.S. at 407. The deliberate indifference requirement is an objective, "stringent standard of fault, requiring proof that a municipal actor disregarded a known or obvious consequence of his action." *Id.* at 410; *see Farmer v. Brennan*, 511 U.S. 825, 841 (1994).

The summary judgment record here was completely devoid of any evidence that Director Argo undertook any action with any particular state of mind, and Belmont does not contend otherwise. The raze permit itself represented nothing beyond the fact of Director Argo's authorization of the instant raze. Belmont simply adduced no evidence that Director Argo knew or had any reason to believe that the agency's notice procedures would not be followed, or that she disregarded that risk. Cf. Gross v. District of Colombia, 734 A.2d 1077, 1085 (D.C. 1999) (explaining that, in the failure to train context, "policymakers of the city can reasonably be said to have been deliberately indifferent to the need for more or different training" where the need is "so obvious"). Indeed, DCRA in this case routinely provided Belmont with notice of its previous infractions. See supra p. 8-10. There is no suggestion that such prior notices had been inadequate. And Belmont was on ample notice that its already condemned building was structurally unsafe and urgently needed to be repaired or demolished. See supra p. 8-16. Thus the court correctly declined to impute liability to the District on the alleged basis that Director Argo, by her own deliberately indifferent action, indirectly caused any due process violation.

To overcome its lack of evidence of Director Argo's deliberate indifference, Belmont maintains that "because [she] was a final policymaker, the municipality is liable; no further proof is required." Br. 29. This is incorrect. As discussed, the Supreme Court in *Bryan County* recognized two distinct ways of establishing

municipal liability based on the acts of a final policymaker. 520 U.S. at 397, 405. Where it is claimed that the final policymaker "has not directly inflicted an injury, but nonetheless has caused an employee to do so," a plaintiff must additionally prove the official's "deliberate indifference to the consequences of her actions"—the constitutional deprivation. Bryan Cnty., 520 U.S. at 397, 408, 410. The deliberate indifference requirement ensures that the constitutional violation "reflects a 'deliberate' or 'conscious' choice by [the] municipality"—i.e., "a 'policy." Harris, 489 U.S. at 389. In this way, policymaker liability remains consistent with the principle that a municipality must, through its "deliberate conduct," be "the 'moving force' behind the injury alleged." Bryan Cnty., 520 U.S. at 404; see Pembaur, 475 U.S. at 483 (plurality op.) (concluding that "municipal liability under § 1983 attaches where—and only where—a deliberate choice to follow a course of action is made" by the final policymaker).

In its opening brief, Belmont contends only that it is not required to demonstrate Director Argo's state of mind. Br. 24. Belmont advances no argument that Director Argo's authorization of the raze exhibited deliberate indifference. As a result, the argument is forfeited. *See Aeon Fin., LLC*, 84 A.3d at 530.

Belmont's remaining contention, that Director Argo "ordered that Belmont's building be razed . . . without requiring that Belmont be afforded the process to which it was due," is unavailing. Br. 29. To the extent Belmont means that mere

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